

Concepts of Genetics

TWELFTH EDITION

Klug • Cummings • Spencer • Palladino • Killian



Brief Contents

PART ONE

GENES, CHROMOSOMES, AND HEREDITY

- 1 Introduction to Genetics 37
- 2 Mitosis and Meiosis 50
- 3 Mendelian Genetics 72
- 4 Extensions of Mendelian Genetics 98
- 5 Sex Determination and Sex Chromosomes 131
- 6 Chromosomal Mutations: Variation in Number and Arrangement 151
- 7 Chromosome Mapping in Eukaryotes 176
- 8 Genetic Analysis and Mapping in Bacteria and Bacteriophages 205
- 9 Extranuclear Inheritance 234

PART TWO

DNA: STRUCTURE, REPLICATION, AND ORGANIZATION

- 10 DNA Structure and Analysis 251
- 11 DNA Replication and Recombination 276
- 12 DNA Organization in Chromosomes 301

PART THREE

GENE EXPRESSION AND ITS REGULATION

- 13 The Genetic Code and Transcription 321
- 14 Translation and Proteins 350
- **15** Gene Mutation, DNA Repair, and Transposition **378**
- 16 Regulation of Gene Expression in Bacteria 411
- **17** Transcriptional Regulation in Eukaryotes **431**
- 18 Posttranscriptional Regulation in Eukaryotes 451
- 19 Epigenetic Regulation of Gene Expression 471

PART FOUR

GENETIC TECHNOLOGY AND GENOMICS

- 20 Recombinant DNATechnology 492
- 21 Genomic Analysis 523
- 22 Applications of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology 559

PART FIVE

GENETIC ANALYSIS OF ORGANISMS AND POPULATIONS

- 23 Developmental Genetics 593
- 24 Cancer Genetics 617
- 25 Quantitative Genetics and Multifactorial Traits 637
- 26 Population and Evolutionary Genetics 659

SPECIAL TOPICS IN MODERN GENETICS

- 1 CRISPR-Cas and Genome Editing 687
- 2 DNA Forensics 699
- 3 Genomics and Precision Medicine 710
- 4 Genetically Modified Foods 721
- 5 GeneTherapy 733
- 6 Advances in Neurogenetics: The Study of Huntington Disease 748

Appendix A Selected Readings 763 Appendix B Answers to Selected Problems 777 Glossary 821 Credits 841 Index 845

GENCEPTS OF

TWELFTH EDITION GLOBAL EDITION

William S. Klug

THE COLLEGE OF NEW JERSEY

Michael R. Cummings

ILLINOIS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

Charlotte A. Spencer

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Michael A. Palladino

MONMOUTH UNIVERSITY

Darrell J. Killian

COLORADO COLLEGE



330 Hudson Street, NY NY 10013

Acknowledgements of third party content appear on page 841, which constitutes an extension of this copyright page. PEARSON, ALWAYS LEARNING, MasteringGenetics[™], and BioFlix[™] are exclusive trademarks in the U.S. and/or other countries owned by Pearson Education, Inc. or its affiliates.

Pearson Education Limited

KAO Two KAO Park Harlow CM17 9NA United Kingdom

and Associated Companies throughout the world

Visit us on the World Wide Web at: www.pearsonglobaleditions.com

© Pearson Education Limited, 2020

The rights of William S. Klug, Michael R. Cummings, Charlotte A. Spencer, Michael A. Palladino, and Darrell J. Killian to be identified as the authors of this work have been asserted by them in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Authorized adaptation from the United States edition, entitled Concepts of Genetics, 12th Edition, ISBN 978-0-134-60471-8, by William S. Klug, Michael R. Cummings, Charlotte A. Spencer, Michael A. Palladino, and Darrell J. Killian, published by Pearson Education © 2019.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without either the prior written permission of the publisher or a license permitting restricted copying in the United Kingdom issued by the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd, Saffron House, 6–10 Kirby Street, London EC1N 8TS.

All trademarks used herein are the property of their respective owners. The use of any trademark in this text does not vest in the author or publisher any trademark ownership rights in such trademarks, nor does the use of such trademarks imply any affiliation with or endorsement of this book by such owners. For information regarding permissions, request forms, and the appropriate contacts within the Pearson Education Global Rights and Permissions department, please visit www.pearsoned.com/permissions.

This eBook is a standalone product and may or may not include all assets that were part of the print version. It also does not provide access to other Pearson digital products like MyLab and Mastering. The publisher reserves the right to remove any material in this eBook at any time.

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN 10: 1-292-26532-9 **ISBN 13:** 978-1-292-26532-2 eBook ISBN 13: 978-1-292-26551-3

Typeset by SPi Global

About the Authors



William S. Klug is an Emeritus Professor of Biology at The College of New Jersey (formerly Trenton State College) in Ewing, New Jersey, where he served as Chair of the Biology

Department for 17 years. He received his B.A. degree in Biology from Wabash College in Crawfordsville, Indiana, and his Ph.D. from Northwestern University in Evanston, Illinois. Prior to coming to The College of New Jersey, he was on the faculty of Wabash College, where he first taught genetics, as well as general biology and electron microscopy. His research interests have involved ultrastructural and molecular genetic studies of development, utilizing oogenesis in Drosophila as a model system. He has taught the genetics course as well as the senior capstone seminar course in Human and Molecular Genetics to undergraduate biology majors for over four decades. He was the recipient in 2001 of the first annual teaching award given at The College of New Jersey, granted to the faculty member who "most challenges students to achieve high standards." He also received the 2004 Outstanding Professor Award from Sigma Pi International, and in the same year, he was nominated as the Educator of the Year, an award given by the Research and Development Council of New Jersey. When not revising one of his textbooks, immersed in the literature of genetics, or trying to avoid double bogies, Dr. Klug can sometimes be found paddling in the Gulf of Mexico or in Maine's Penobscot Bay.



Michael R. Cummings is a Research Professor in the Department of Biological, Chemical, and Physical Sciences at Illinois Institute of Technology, Chicago, Illinois. For more

than 25 years, he was a faculty member in the Department

of Biological Sciences and in the Department of Molecular Genetics at the University of Illinois at Chicago. He has also served on the faculties of Northwestern University and Florida State University. He received his B.A. from St. Mary's College in Winona, Minnesota, and his M.S. and Ph.D. from Northwestern University in Evanston, Illinois. In addition to this text, he has written textbooks in human genetics and general biology. His research interests center on the molecular organization and physical mapping of the heterochromatic regions of human acrocentric chromosomes. At the undergraduate level, he teaches courses in molecular genetics, human genetics, and general biology, and has received numerous awards for teaching excellence given by university faculty, student organizations, and graduating seniors. When not teaching or writing, Dr. Cummings can often be found far offshore fishing for the one that got away.



Charlotte A. Spen-

cer is a retired Associate Professor from the Department of Oncology at the University of Alberta in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. She has also served as a fac-

ulty member in the Department of Biochemistry at the University of Alberta. She received her B.Sc. in Microbiology from the University of British Columbia and her Ph.D. in Genetics from the University of Alberta, followed by postdoctoral training at the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center in Seattle, Washington. Her research interests involve the regulation of RNA polymerase II transcription in cancer cells, cells infected with DNA viruses, and cells traversing the mitotic phase of the cell cycle. She has taught undergraduate and graduate courses in biochemistry, genetics, molecular biology, and oncology. She has also written booklets in the Prentice Hall Exploring Biology series. When not writing and editing contributions to genetics textbooks, Dr. Spencer works on her hazelnut farm and enjoys the peace and quiet of a remote Island off the west coast of British Columbia.

4 About the Authors



Michael A. Palladino is Vice Provost for Graduate Studies, former Dean of the School of Science, and Professor of Biology at Monmouth University in West Long Branch, New Jersey.

He received his B.S. degree in Biology from The College of New Jersey and his Ph.D. in Anatomy and Cell Biology from the University of Virginia. For more than 15 years he directed a laboratory of undergraduate student researchers supported by external funding from the National Institutes of Health, biopharma companies, and other agencies. He and his undergraduates studied molecular mechanisms involved in innate immunity of mammalian male reproductive organs and genes involved in oxygen homeostasis and ischemic injury of the testis. He has taught a wide range of courses including genetics, biotechnology, endocrinology, and cell and molecular biology. He has received several awards for research and teaching, including the 2009 Young Andrologist Award of the American Society of Andrology, the 2005 Distinguished Teacher Award from Monmouth University, and the 2005 Caring Heart Award from the New Jersey Association for Biomedical Research. He is co-author of the undergraduate textbook Introduction to Biotechnology. He was Series Editor for the Benjamin Cummings Special Topics in Biology booklet series, and author of the first booklet in the series, Understanding the Human Genome Project. When away from the university or authoring textbooks, Dr. Palladino can often be found watching or playing soccer or attempting to catch most any species of fish in freshwater or saltwater.



Darrell J. Killian is an Associate Professor and current Chair of the Department of Molecular Biology at Colorado College in Colorado Springs, Colorado. He received his

B.A. degree in Molecular Biology and Biochemistry from Wesleyan University in Middletown, Connecticut, prior to working as a Research Technician in Molecular Genetics at Rockefeller University in New York, New York. He earned his Ph.D. in Developmental Genetics from New York University in New York, New York, and received his postdoctoral training at the University of Colorado-Boulder in the Department of Molecular, Cellular, and Developmental Biology. Prior to joining Colorado College, he was an Assistant Professor of Biology at the College of New Jersey in Ewing, New Jersey. His research focuses on the genetic regulation of animal development, and he has received funding from the National Institutes of Health and the National Science Foundation. Currently, he and his undergraduate research assistants are investigating the molecular genetic regulation of nervous system development using C. elegans and Drosophila as model systems. He teaches undergraduate courses in genetics, molecular and cellular biology, stem cell biology, and developmental neurobiology. When away from the classroom and research lab, Dr. Killian can often be found on two wheels exploring trails in the Pike and San Isabel National Forests.

Dedication

We dedicate this edition to our long-time colleague and friend Harry Nickla, who sadly passed away in 2017. With decades of experience teaching Genetics to students at Creighton University, Harry's contribution to our texts included authorship of the *Student Handbook and Solutions Manual* (for the US edition) and the test bank, as well as devising most of the Extra Spicy problems at the end of each chapter. He was also a source of advice during the planning session for each new edition, and during our many revisions. We always appreciated his professional insights, friendship, and conviviality. We were lucky to have him as part of our team, and we miss him greatly.

WSK, MRC, CAS, MAP, and DJK

Brief Contents

PART ONE

GENES, CHROMOSOMES, AND HEREDITY

- 1 Introduction to Genetics 37
- 2 Mitosis and Meiosis 50
- 3 Mendelian Genetics 72
- 4 Extensions of Mendelian Genetics 98
- 5 Sex Determination and Sex Chromosomes 131
- 6 Chromosomal Mutations: Variation in Number and Arrangement 151
- 7 Chromosome Mapping in Eukaryotes 176
- 8 Genetic Analysis and Mapping in Bacteria and Bacteriophages 205
- 9 Extranuclear Inheritance 234

PART TWO

DNA: STRUCTURE, REPLICATION, AND ORGANIZATION

- 10 DNA Structure and Analysis 251
- 11 DNA Replication and Recombination 276
- 12 DNA Organization in Chromosomes 301

PART THREE

GENE EXPRESSION AND ITS REGULATION

- 13 The Genetic Code and Transcription 321
- 14 Translation and Proteins 350
- 15 Gene Mutation, DNA Repair, and Transposition 378
- 16 Regulation of Gene Expression in Bacteria 411
- **17** Transcriptional Regulation in Eukaryotes **431**
- 18 Posttranscriptional Regulation in Eukaryotes 451
- 19 Epigenetic Regulation of Gene Expression 471

PART FOUR

GENETIC TECHNOLOGY AND GENOMICS

- 20 Recombinant DNA Technology 492
- 21 Genomic Analysis 523
- 22 Applications of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology 559

PART FIVE

GENETIC ANALYSIS OF ORGANISMS AND POPULATIONS

- 23 Developmental Genetics 593
- 24 Cancer Genetics 617
- 25 Quantitative Genetics and Multifactorial Traits 637
- 26 Population and Evolutionary Genetics 659

SPECIAL TOPICS IN MODERN GENETICS

- 1 CRISPR-Cas and Genome Editing 687
- 2 DNA Forensics 699
- 3 Genomics and Precision Medicine 710
- 4 Genetically Modified Foods 721
- 5 GeneTherapy 733
- 6 Advances in Neurogenetics: The Study of Huntington Disease 748

Appendix A Selected Readings 763 Appendix B Answers to Selected Problems 777 Glossary 821 Credits 841 Index 845

This page intentionally left blank

Explore Cutting-Edge Topics

Concepts of Genetics emphasizes the fundamental ideas of genetics, while exploring modern techniques and applications of genetic analysis. This bestselling text continues to provide understandable explanations of complex, analytical topics and recognizes the importance of teaching students how to become effective problem solvers.

Six **Special Topics in Modern Genetics** mini-chapters concisely explore cutting-edge, engaging, and relevant topics.

- NEW! CRISPR-Cas and Genome Editing
- DNA Forensics
- Genomics and Precision Medicine
- Genetically Modified Foods
- Gene Therapy
- NEW! Advances in Neurogenetics: The Study of Huntington Disease

Special Topic chapters include Review and Discussion questions, which are also assignable in Mastering Genetics. SPECIAL TOPICS IN MODERN GENETICS 1

CRISPR-Cas and Genome Editing

Genetic research is often a slow incremental process that may extend our understanding of a concept or improve the efficiency of a genetic technology. More rarely, discoveries advance the field in sudden and profound ways. For example, studies in the early 1980s led to the discovery of catalytic RNAs, which transformed how geneticists think about RNA. Around the same time, the development of the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) provided a revolutionary tool for geneticists and other scientists. Rapid and targeted DNA amplification is now indipensable to genetic research and medical science. Given this context, one can appreciate how rare and significant a discovery would be that both illuminates a novel genetic concept as well as yields a new technology for genetics

For over a century, scientists have studied the biological warfare between bacteria and the viruses that infect them. However, in 2007, experiments confirmed that bacteria have a completely novel defense mechanism against viruses known as CRISPR-Cas. This discovery completely changed the scope of our understanding of how bacteria and viruses combat one another, and coevolve. Moreover, the CRISPR-Cas system has now been adapted as an incredibly powerful tool for genome editing.

The ability to specifically and efficiently edit a genome has broad implications for research, biotechnology, and medicine. For decades, geneticists have used various strategies for genome editing with many successes, but also with limited efficiency and a significant invest-"CRISPR-Cas has ment of time and resources. CRISPR-Cas has been developed into been developed into an efficient, cost-effective molecular tool that can introduce prean efficient, costcise and specific edits to a genome. It is not effective molecular without its limitations, but it represents a tool that can introtechnological leap, which we have not seen, duce precise and arguably, since the innovation of PCR. specific edits to a

The discovery of CRISPR-Cas has impacted genetics and other related fields at an unprecedented pace (Figure ST 1.1). CRISPR-Cas is the focus of numerous patent applications and disputes, has been

approved for use in clinical trials to treat disease, has been used to edit the genome of human embryos as a proof of concept for future medical applications, has instigated international

genome".



FIGURE ST 1.1 The number of publications returned in a search for "CRISPR" in PubMed by year.

discussions on its ethical use, and is most deserving of its own chapter in a genetics textbook.

ST 1.1 CRISPR-Cas Is an Adaptive Immune System in Prokaryotes

Bacteria and viruses (bacteriophages or phages) engage in constant biological warfare. Consequently, bacteria exhibit

a diverse suite of defense mechanisms. For example, bacteria express endonucleases (restriction enzymes), which cleave specific DNA sequences. Such restriction enzymes destroy foreign bacteriophage DNA, while the bacterium protects its own DNA by methylating it. As you know (from Chapter 20), restriction enzymes have been adopted by molecular biologists for use in recombinant DNA technology. Bacteria can also defend against phage attack by blocking phage adsorption, blocking phage DNA insertion, and inducing suicide in infected cells to prevent the spread

of infection to other cells. All of these defense mechanisms are considered **innate immunity** because they are not tailored to a specific pathogen. TOP

Explore the Latest Updates

The 12th edition has been heavily updated throughout, including a reorganization and expansion of coverage of gene regulation in eukaryotes. This expansion reflects our growing knowledge of the critical roles RNA and epigenetics play in regulating gene activity.

Gene regulation in eukaryotes has been expanded into three chapters: transcriptional regulation (Ch. 17), posttranscriptional regulation (Ch. 18), and epigenetic regulation (Ch. 19).

8



Posttranscriptional **Regulation in Eukaryotes**

Crystal structure of human Argonaute2 protein interacting with "guide" RNA. Argonaute2 plays an important role in mediating a posttranscriptional RNA-induced silencing pathway.

CHAPTER CONCEPTS

- Following transcription, there are several mechanisms that regulate gene expression, referred to as posttranscriptional regulation.
- Alternative splicing allows for a single gene to encode different protein isoforms with different functions.
- The interaction between *cis*-acting mRNA sequence elements and *trans-acting* RNA-binding proteins regu-lates mRNA stability, degradation, localization, and translation.
- Noncoding RNAs may regulate gene expression by targeting mRNAs for destruction or translational inhibition.
- Posttranslational modification of proteins can alter their activity or promote their degradation.

and the synthesis of a 3' poly-A tail. Each of these steps and the optimized to control gene expression. After mature mRNAs are exported to the cytoplasm, they follow different paths: They may be localized to specific regions of the cell; they may be stabilized or degraded; or they may be translated robustly or stored for translation at a later time. Even after translation, protein activity, localization, and stability can be altered through cova-lent protein modifications. These and other eukaryotic posttranscriptional regulatory mechanisms are summa rized in Figure 18.1.

Whereas the regulation of transcription depends on transcription factors and DNA regulatory elements (see Chapter 17), many posttranscriptional mechanisms involve RNA-level regulation. Moreover, posttranscrip-tional regulation is not only centered on RNA, but, in some cases, is regulated by RNA. Noncoding RNAs play important roles in the regulation of eukaryotic gene expression

In this chapter, we will explore several important mechanisms and themes of eukaryotic posttranscrip-tional regulation. As you read on, keep in mind that while scientists have learned a great deal about how genes are regulated at the posttranscriptional level, there are still many unanswered questions for the curious student to ponder.

451

NEW! A new chapter focuses on epigenetics, updating and expanding coverage that used to be in a Special Topics chapter.



Epigenetic Regulation of Gene Expression

In toadflax, the shape of individual flowers changes from bilateral symmetry (photo on the left) to radial symmetry (photo on the right) in a naturally occurring, heritable gene silencing epimutation associated with the methylation of a single gene. There is no alteration of the DNA sequence at this locus.

CHAPTER CONCEPTS

and Ethical Considerations

With the rapid growth of our understanding of genetics and the ongoing introduction of powerful tools that can edit genes and genomes, it's important to encourage students to confront ethical issues and consider questions that arise in the study of genetics.

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

Down Syndrome and Prenatal Testing—The New Eugenics?

own syndrome is the most common chromosomal abnormality seen in newborn babies. Prenatal diagnostic tests for Down syndrome have been available for decades, especially to older pregnant women who have an increased risk of bearing a child with Down syndrome. Scientists estimate that there is an abortion rate of about 30 percent for fetuses that test positive for Down syndrome in the United States, and rates of up to 85 percent in other parts of the world, such as Taiwan and France.

testing followed by selective abortion is eugenic. How does eugenics apply, if at all, to screening for Down syndrome and other human genetic defects?

The term *eugenics* was first defined by Francis Galton in 1883 as "the science which deals with all influences that improve the inborn qualities of a race; also with those that develop them to the utmost advantage." Galton believed that human traits such as intelligence and personality were hereditary and that humans could selectively mate with each other to create gifted groups of peopleanalogous to the creation of purebred dogs with specific traits. Galton did not propose coercion but thought that people would voluntarily select mates in order to enhance particular genetic outcomes for their offsprine.

In the early to mid-twentieth century, countries throughout the world adopted eugenic policies with the aim of enhancing desirable human traits (positive eugenics) and eliminating undesirable ones (negative eugenics). Many countries, including Britain, Canada, and the United States, enacted compulsory sterilization programs for the "feebleminded," mentally ill, and criminals. The eugenic policies of Nazi Germany were particularly infamous, resulting in forced human genetic experimentation and the slaugh ter of tens of thousands of disabled people. The eugenics movement was discredited after World War II, and the evils perpetuated in its name have tainted the term eugenics ever since. Given the history of the eugen-

ics movement, is it fair to use the term

NEW! Genetics, Ethics, and Society essays appear in many chapters. Each one provides a synopsis of an ethical issue, related to chapter content, that impacts society today. Each includes a section called Your Turn, directing students to resources to help them explore the issue and answer questions.

NEW and REVISED! Case Studies

conclude each chapter, introducing a short vignette of an everyday genetics-related situation and posing several discussion questions, including one focusing on ethics.

CASE STUDY Fish tales

ontrolling the overgrowth of invasive aquatic vegetation is a significant problem in the waterways of most U.S. states. Originally, herbicides and dredging were used for control, but in 1963, diploid Asian carp were introduced in Alabama and Arkansas. Unfortunately, through escapes and illegal introductions, the carp spread rapidly and became serious threats to aquatic ecosystems in 45 states. Beginning in 1983, many states began using triploid, sterile grass carp as an alternative, because of their inability to reproduce, their longevity, and their voracious appetite. On the other hand, this genetically modified exotic species, if not used properly, can reduce or eliminate desirable plants and outcompete native fish, causing more damage than good. The use of one exotic species to control other exotic species has had a problematic history across the globe, generating controversy and criticism. Newer methods for genetic modification of organisms to achieve specific outcomes will certainly

become more common in the future and raise several interesting questions.

- 1. Why would the creation and use of a tetraploid carp species be unacceptable in the above situation?
- 2. If you were a state official in charge of a particular waterway, what questions would you ask before approving the use of a laboratory-produced, triploid species in this waterway?
- 3. What ethical responsibilities accompany the ecological and economic risks and benefits of releasing exotic species into the environment? Who pays the costs if ecosystems and food supplies are damaged?

See Seastedt, T. R. (2015). Biological control of invasive plant species: A reassessment for the Anthropocene. *New Phytologist* 205:490–502.

Learn Genetics Concepts and Problem Solving

Mastering[™] Genetics helps students master key genetics concepts while reinforcing problem-solving skills with hints and feedback specific to their misconceptions. Mastering Genetics includes content and tools for before, during, and after class. Learn more at www.pearson.com/mastering/genetics

< ≡	First Group + 4/8
What is t the F2 ge homozyg RR and r	he frequency of each phenotype in eneration of a cross between two iccus parent peas with the genotypes r?
	1:1:1:1
	One round, two slightly wrinkled, and one wrinkled
0	Three round, one wrinkled
0	One-fourth RR, one-half Rr, and one-fourth rr
0	I DON'T KNOW YET
I am ur	isure Submit
	Ŀ

Learning Catalytics is a "bring your own device" (smartphone, tablet, or laptop) assessment and active classroom system that helps engage students. Instructors can create their own questions, draw from community content, or access Pearson's library of question clusters.

NEW! Dynamic Study Modules

personalize each student's learning experience. Available for assignments or for self-study, these chapter-based modules help prepare students for in-class discussions, problem solving, or active learning. A mobile app is available for iOS and Android devices.



with Mastering Genetics

Transcription and RNA Processing

During transcription, RNA polymerase synthesizes RNA from a DNA template with the help of accessory proteins. In this tutorial, you will review the steps of transcription in eukaryotes and bacteria and investigate splicing of mRNAs in eukaryotes. Part A - Transcription in bacteria

The diagram below shows a length of DNA containing a bacterial gene

Drag the labels to their appropriate locations in the diagram to describe the function or characteristics of each part of the gene. Not all labels will be used.

+ Hints



Tutorials and activities feature personalized wrong-answer feedback and hints that emulate the office-hour experience to guide student learning.

100 Practice Problems offer more opportunities to develop problem-solving skills. These questions appear only in Mastering Genetics and include targeted wrong-answer feedback to help students learn.



Access the text anytime, anywhere with Pearson eText

Pearson eText is built to adapt to any device readers are usingsmartphone, tablet, or computer.



Many, if not most, animal cells have a covering over e plasma membrane, referred to as the glycocalys, or cell at. Consisting of glycoproteins and polysaccharides, this wering has a chemical composition that differs from comwering in a chemical composition that catters from com-strable structures in either plants or bacteria. The glycoca-s, among other functions, provides biochemical identity the surface of cells, and the components of the coat that tablish cellular identity are under genetic control. For ample, various cell-identity markers that you may have cample, various off-identity markers that you may have brand of--the AB, Bh, and MN antigerm--are found on the surface of rel blood cells, among other cell types. On the surface of other cells, biascompatibility antigers, which fields an immune response during lissue and organ trans-olarity, are present. Various receptor molecules are also found on the surfaces of cells. These molecules are also found on the surfaces of cells. These molecules are also found on the surfaces of cells. These molecules are sub-tion situs that transfer specific chemical signals across the rel membrane into the cell.

ell membrane into the cell. Living organisms are categorized into two major groups depending on whether or not their cells contain a suckets. The presence of a nucleus and other mem-tecnose organisms. The **sucleus** in exkaryotic cells as membrane-bound structure that houses the genetic naterial, DNA, which is complexed with an array of cidic and hasic proteins into thin fibers. During nondri-inclut galaxies of the cell cycle, the fibers are uncoiled and



nced electron micrograph of E. cell articularly prominent are the two min red), called nucleoids, that have n. Pa an (sh een partitioned into the daughter cells

The remainder of the eukaryotic cell within the plasma membrane, excluding the nucleus, is referred to as eyes-plasm and includes a variety of extractacture cellular organ-elles. In the eyesplasm, a nonparticulater, colloidal material referred to as the eyessal surrounds and encompasses the cellular organelles. The cytoplasm also includes an extensive system of tubules and filaments, comprising the cytoskel-



The inheritance of phenotypes influenced by mitochon dria is also uniparental in Chlonydomonas. However, studies of the transmission of several cases of antibiotic resistance verned by mitochondria have shown that it is the set" parent that transmits the mitochondrial genetic information to protenty cells. This is just the opposite of what occurs with chloroplast-derived phenotypes, such as str*. The significance of inheriting one organelle from one parent and the other organelle from the other parent is not yet established.

Mitochondrial Mutations: Early Studies in Neurospora and Yeast

As alluded to earlier, mutations affecting mitochondrial function have also been discovered and studied, revealing that mitochondria, too, contain a distinctive genetic system. As with chloroplasts, mitochondrial mutations are transmitted through the cytoplasm during reproduction. In 1952, Mary B. Mitchell and Herschel K. Mitchell studied the pink bread mold Neurosporn crossa (Figure 9.3). They discovered a slow-growing mutant strain and named it poly. (It is also designated mi-I, for maternal inheritance.) Slow growth is associated with impaired mitochondrial function, specifically caused by the absence of several cytochrome proteins essential for electron transport. In the absence of cytochromes, aerobic respiration leading to ATP synthesis is curtailed. Results of genetic crosses between wild-type and poky strains suggest that the trait is maternally inherited. If one mating type is poky and the other is wild type, all progeny colonies are poky, yet the reciprocal cross produces normal wild-type colonies



Pearson eText Mobile App offers offline access and can be downloaded for most iOS and Android phones/tablets from the Apple App Store or Google Play. Its features include student and instructor notetaking, highlighting, bookmarking, search, and glossary.



PART ONE

GENES, CHROMOSOMES, AND HEREDITY

Introduction to Genetics 37

1.1 Genetics Has a Rich and Interesting History 38

> 1600–1850: The Dawn of Modern Biology **39** Charles Darwin and Evolution **39**

1.2 Genetics Progressed from Mendel to DNA in Less Than a Century 39

Mendel's Work on Transmission of Traits 39 The Chromosome Theory of Inheritance: Uniting Mendel and Meiosis 40 Genetic Variation 41 The Search for the Chemical Nature of Genes: DNA or Protein? 41

1.3 Discovery of the Double Helix Launched the Era of Molecular Genetics 42

The Structure of DNA and RNA 42 Gene Expression: From DNA to Phenotype 42 Proteins and Biological Function 43 Linking Genotype to Phenotype: Sickle-Cell Anemia 43

1.4 Development of Recombinant DNA Technology Began the Era of DNA Cloning 44

1.5 The Impact of Biotechnology Is Continually Expanding 44

Plants, Animals, and the Food Supply 44 Biotechnology in Genetics and Medicine 45

1.6 Genomics, Proteomics, and Bioinformatics Are New and Expanding Fields 45 Modern Approaches to Understanding Gene Function 46

1.7 Genetic Studies Rely on the Use of Model Organisms 46

The Modern Set of Genetic Model Organisms 47 Model Organisms and Human Diseases 47

1.8We Live in the Age of Genetics48The Nobel Prize and Genetics48

Genetics, Ethics, and Society 48

Summary Points 49

Problems and Discussion Questions 49

2 Mitosis and Meiosis 50

- 2.1 Cell Structure Is Closely Tied to Genetic Function 51
- 2.2 Chromosomes Exist in Homologous Pairs in Diploid Organisms 53
- 2.3 Mitosis Partitions Chromosomes into Dividing Cells 55 Interphase and the Cell Cycle 55 Prophase 56 Prometaphase and Metaphase 56 Anaphase 58 Telophase 58 Cell-Cycle Regulation and Checkpoints 59
- 2.4 Meiosis Creates Haploid Gametes and Spores and Enhances Genetic Variation in Species 59 Meiosis: Prophase | 61 Metaphase, Anaphase, and Telophase | 61 The Second Meiotic Division 63
- 2.5 The Development of Gametes Varies in Spermatogenesis Compared to Oogenesis 65
- 2.6 Meiosis Is Critical to Sexual Reproduction in All Diploid Organisms 65
- 2.7 Electron Microscopy Has Revealed the Physical Structure of Mitotic and Meiotic Chromosomes 66

EXPLORING GENOMICS

PubMed: Exploring and Retrieving Biomedical Literature 67

CASE STUDY Timing is everything 68

Summary Points 68

Insights and Solutions 68

Problems and Discussion Questions 70

Extra-Spicy Problems 70

3 Mendelian Genetics 72

- 3.1 Mendel Used a Model Experimental Approach to Study Patterns of Inheritance 73
- 3.2 The Monohybrid Cross Reveals How One Trait Is Transmitted from Generation to Generation 74 Mendel's First Three Postulates 74 Modern Genetic Terminology 75

Punnett Squares **76** The Testcross: One Character **76**

3.3 Mendel's Dihybrid Cross Generated a Unique F₂ Ratio 77

Mendel's Fourth Postulate: Independent Assortment **77**

MODERN APPROACHES TO UNDERSTANDING GENE FUNCTION

Identifying Mendel's Gene for Regulating White Flower Color in Peas **80** The Testcross: Two Characters **80**

- 3.4 The Trihybrid Cross Demonstrates That Mendel's Principles Apply to Inheritance of Multiple Traits 81 The Forked-Line Method, or Branch Diagram 81
- 3.5 Mendel's Work Was Rediscovered in the Early Twentieth Century 82 Unit Factors, Genes, and Homologous Chromosomes 82
- Evolving Concept of the Gene 84
- 3.6 Independent Assortment Leads to Extensive Genetic Variation 84
- 3.7 Laws of Probability Help to Explain Genetic Events 84
- 3.8 Chi-Square Analysis Evaluates the Influence of Chance on Genetic Data 85 Chi-Square Calculations and the Null Hypothesis 86 Interpreting Probability Values 87
- 3.9 Pedigrees Reveal Patterns of Inheritance of Human Traits 88 Pedigree Conventions 88

Pedigree Analysis 89

3.10 Mutant Phenotypes Have Been Examined at the Molecular Level 90

How Mendel's Peas Become Wrinkled: A Molecular Explanation **90**

Tay—Sachs Disease:The Molecular Basis of a Recessive Disorder in Humans **91**

EXPLORING GENOMICS

Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man 91

CASE STUDY To test or not to test 92

Summary Points 92

Insights and Solutions 93

Problems and Discussion Questions 94

Extra-Spicy Problems 96

4 Extensions of Mendelian Genetics 98

4.1 Alleles Alter Phenotypes in Different Ways 99

- 4.2 Geneticists Use a Variety of Symbols for Alleles 100
- 4.3 Neither Allele Is Dominant in Incomplete, or Partial, Dominance 100
- 4.4 In Codominance, the Influence of Both Alleles in a Heterozygote Is Clearly Evident 101
- 4.5 Multiple Alleles of a Gene May Exist in a Population 102
 The ABO Blood Groups 102
 The A and B Antigens 102
 The Bombay Phenotype 103
 The white Locus in Drosophila 104
- 4.6 Lethal Alleles Represent Essential Genes 105 The Molecular Basis of Dominance, Recessiveness, and Lethality: The *agouti* Gene 106
- 4.7 Combinations of Two Gene Pairs with Two Modes of Inheritance Modify the 9:3:3:1 Ratio 106
- Evolving Concept of the Gene 106
- 4.8 Phenotypes Are Often Affected by More Than One Gene 107 Epistasis 107 Novel Phenotypes 111 Other Modified Dihybrid Ratios 113
- 4.9 Complementation Analysis Can Determine if Two Mutations Causing a Similar Phenotype Are Alleles of the Same Gene 113
- 4.10 Expression of a Single Gene May Have Multiple Effects 114
- 4.11 X-Linkage Describes Genes on the X Chromosome 115 X-Linkage in *Drosophila* 115 X-Linkage in Humans 116
- 4.12 In Sex-Limited and Sex-Influenced Inheritance, an Individual's Sex Influences the Phenotype 117

4.13 Genetic Background and the Environment May Alter Phenotypic Expression 118

Penetrance and Expressivity 118 Genetic Background: Position Effects 119 Temperature Effects—An Introduction to Conditional Mutations 119 Nutritional Effects 120 Onset of Genetic Expression 120 Genetic Anticipation 121

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY Nature versus Nurture: Is the

Debate Over? 121

CASE STUDY Should the child be deaf? 122

Summary Points 122 Insights and Solutions 123 Problems and Discussion Questions 125 Extra-Spicy Problems 128

5 Sex Determination and Sex Chromosomes 131

- 5.1 X and Y Chromosomes Were First Linked to Sex Determination Early in the Twentieth Century 132
- 5.2 The Y Chromosome Determines Maleness in Humans 132 Klinefelter and Turner Syndromes 133 47,XXX Syndrome 134 47,XYY Condition 134 Sexual Differentiation in Humans 135 The Y Chromosome and Male Development 135
- 5.3 The Ratio of Males to Females in Humans Is Not 1.0 138
- 5.4 Dosage Compensation Prevents Excessive Expression of X-Linked Genes in Humans and Other Mammals 139 Barr Bodies 139 The Lyon Hypothesis 140 The Mechanism of Inactivation 141
- 5.5 The Ratio of X Chromosomes to Sets of Autosomes Can Determine Sex 143 D. melanogaster 143

Caenorhabditis elegans 144

MODERN APPROACHES TO UNDERSTANDING GENE FUNCTION

Drosophila Sxl Gene Induces Female Development 145

5.6 Temperature Variation Controls Sex Determination in Many Reptiles 146

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

A Question of Gender: Sex Selection in Humans 147

CASE STUDY Is it a boy or a girl? 148

Summary Points 148

Insights and Solutions 148

Problems and Discussion Questions 149

Extra-Spicy Problems 150

6 Chromosomal Mutations: Variation in Number and Arrangement 151

6.1 Variation in Chromosome Number: Terminology and Origin 152

6.2 Monosomy and Trisomy Result in a Variety of Phenotypic Effects 152

Monosomy 152 Trisomy 153 Down Syndrome: Trisomy 21 154 The Down Syndrome Critical Region (DSCR) 154

MODERN APPROACHES TO UNDERSTANDING GENE FUNCTION

Mouse Models of Down Syndrome 155 The Origin of the Extra Chromosome 21 in Down Syndrome 156 Human Aneuploidy 157

- 6.3 Polyploidy, in Which More Than Two Haploid Sets of Chromosomes Are Present, Is Prevalent in Plants 158 Autopolyploidy 158 Allopolyploidy 159 Endopolyploidy 161
- 6.4 Variation Occurs in the Composition and Arrangement of Chromosomes 161
- 6.5 A Deletion Is a Missing Region of a Chromosome 162 Cri du Chat Syndrome in Humans 162
- 6.6 A Duplication Is a Repeated Segment of a Chromosome 163

Gene Redundancy and Amplification – Ribosomal RNA Genes 164

The Bar Mutation in Drosophila164The Role of Gene Duplication in Evolution165Duplications at the Molecular Level:
Copy Number Variations (CNVs)165

6.7 Inversions Rearrange the Linear Gene Sequence 166 Consequences of Inversions during Gamete

Formation 166 Evolutionary Advantages of Inversions 167

6.8 Translocations Alter the Location of Chromosomal Segments in the Genome 168

Translocations in Humans: Familial Down Syndrome **169**

6.9 Fragile Sites in Human Chromosomes Are Susceptible to Breakage 170

Fragile-X Syndrome **170** The Link between Fragile Sites and Cancer **171**

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

Down Syndrome and Prenatal Testing— The New Eugenics? **171**

CASE STUDY Fish tales 172

Summary Points 172

Insights and Solutions 173

Problems and Discussion Questions 173

Extra-Spicy Problems 174

7 Chromosome Mapping in Eukaryotes 176

- 7.1 Genes Linked on the Same Chromosome Segregate Together 177 The Linkage Ratio 178
- 7.2 Crossing Over Serves as the Basis for Determining the Distance between Genes in Chromosome Mapping 180 Morgan and Crossing Over 180 Sturtevant and Mapping 180 Single Crossovers 182
- 7.3 Determining the Gene Sequence during Mapping Requires the Analysis of Multiple Crossovers 183

Multiple Exchanges 183 Three-Point Mapping in *Drosophila* 184 Determining the Gene Sequence 186 An Autosomal Mapping Problem in Maize 188

- 7.4 As the Distance between Two Genes Increases, Mapping Estimates Become More Inaccurate 191 Interference and the Coefficient of Coincidence 191
- 7.5 Drosophila Genes Have Been Extensively Mapped 192
- Evolving Concept of the Gene 192
- 7.6 Lod Score Analysis and Somatic Cell Hybridization Were Historically Important in Creating Human Chromosome Maps 193
- 7.7 Chromosome Mapping Is Currently Performed Using DNA Markers and Annotated Computer Databases 195
- 7.8 Crossing Over Involves a Physical Exchange between Chromatids 196
- 7.9 Exchanges Also Occur between Sister Chromatids during Mitosis 197

EXPLORING GENOMICS Human Chromosome Maps on the Internet 198 CASE STUDY Links to autism 198 Summary Points 199 Insights and Solutions 199 Problems and Discussion Questions 201

Extra-Spicy Problems 203

8 Genetic Analysis and Mapping in Bacteria and Bacteriophages 205

- 8.1 Bacteria Mutate Spontaneously and Grow at an Exponential Rate 206
- 8.2 Genetic Recombination Occurs in Bacteria 207
 Conjugation in Bacteria: The Discovery of F⁺ and F⁻ Strains 207
 Hfr Bacteria and Chromosome Mapping 209
 Recombination in F⁺ × F⁻ Matings: A Reexamination 212
 The F' State and Merozygotes 212
- 8.3 The F Factor Is an Example of a Plasmid 214
- 8.4 Transformation Is a Second Process Leading to Genetic Recombination in Bacteria 215 The Transformation Process 216

Transformation and Linked Genes 216

- 8.5 Bacteriophages Are Bacterial Viruses 217 Phage T4: Structure and Life Cycle 217 The Plaque Assay 218 Lysogeny 219
- 8.6 Transduction Is Virus-Mediated Bacterial DNA Transfer 220 The Lederberg–Zinder Experiment 220 Transduction and Mapping 221
- 8.7 Bacteriophages Undergo Intergenic Recombination 221 Bacteriophage Mutations 221 Mapping in Bacteriophages 222
- 8.8 Intragenic Recombination Occurs in Phage T4 223

The *rll* Locus of PhageT4 223 Complementation by *rll* Mutations 224 Recombinational Analysis 225 Deletion Testing of the *rll* Locus 225 The *rll* Gene Map 226

Evolving Concept of the Gene 226

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY Multidrug-Resistant Bacteria: Fighting with Phage 227

CASE STUDY To treat or not to treat 228

Summary Points 228

Insights and Solutions 229

Problems and Discussion Questions 230

Extra-Spicy Problems 231

9 Extranuclear Inheritance 234

9.1 Organelle Heredity Involves DNA in Chloroplasts and Mitochondria 235

Chloroplasts: Variegation in Four O'Clock Plants 235

Chloroplast Mutations in *Chlamydomonas* 235 Mitochondrial Mutations: Early Studies in *Neurospora* and Yeast 236

9.2 Knowledge of Mitochondrial and Chloroplast DNA Helps Explain Organelle Heredity 238

Organelle DNA and the Endosymbiotic Theory 238

Molecular Organization and Gene Products of Chloroplast DNA 239

Molecular Organization and Gene Products of Mitochondrial DNA 240

9.3 Mutations in Mitochondrial DNA Cause Human Disorders 241

Mitochondria, Human Health, and Aging 242 Future Prevention of the Transmission of mtDNA-Based Disorders 243

9.4 In Maternal Effect, the Maternal Genotype Has a Strong Influence during Early Development 244

Lymnaea Coiling 245 Embryonic Development in Drosophila 246

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

Mitochondrial Replacement and Three-Parent Babies 247

CASE STUDY Is it all in the genes? 247

Summary Points 248

Insights and Solutions 248

Problems and Discussion Questions 249

Extra-Spicy Problems 250

PART TWO

DNA: STRUCTURE, REPLICATION, AND ORGANIZATION

10 DNA Structure and Analysis 251

- 10.1 The Genetic Material Must Exhibit Four Characteristics 252
- 10.2 Until 1944, Observations Favored Protein as the Genetic Material 252
- 10.3 Evidence Favoring DNA as the Genetic Material Was First Obtained during the Study of Bacteria and Bacteriophages 253 Transformation: Early Studies 253 Transformation: The Avery, MacLeod, and McCarty Experiment 254 The Hershey-Chase Experiment 256 Transfection Experiments 258
- 10.4 Indirect and Direct Evidence Supports the Concept That DNA Is the Genetic Material in Eukaryotes 258 Indirect Evidence: Distribution of DNA 258 Indirect Evidence: Mutagenesis 259

Direct Evidence: Recombinant DNA Studies 259

- 10.5 RNA Serves as the Genetic Material in Some Viruses 259
- 10.6 Knowledge of Nucleic Acid Chemistry Is Essential to the Understanding of DNA Structure 260

Nucleotides: Building Blocks of Nucleic Acids **260** Nucleoside Diphosphates and Triphosphates **261** Polynucleotides **262**

10.7 The Structure of DNA Holds the Key to Understanding Its Function 263

Base-Composition Studies263X-Ray Diffraction Analysis264The Watson-Crick Model264

- Evolving Concept of the Gene 267
- 10.8 Alternative Forms of DNA Exist 267
- 10.9 The Structure of RNA Is Chemically Similar to DNA, but Single Stranded 267
- 10.10 Many Analytical Techniques Have Been Useful during the Investigation of DNA and RNA 269 Electrophoresis 269

EXPLORING GENOMICS

Introduction to Bioinformatics: BLAST 271 CASE STUDY Credit where credit is due 272 Summary Points 272 Insights and Solutions 272 Problems and Discussion Questions 273 Extra-Spicy Problems 274

11 DNA Replication and Recombination 276

11.1 DNA Is Reproduced by Semiconservative Replication 277

The Meselson–Stahl Experiment 278 Semiconservative Replication in Eukaryotes 279 Origins, Forks, and Units of Replication 280

11.2 DNA Synthesis in Bacteria Involves Five Polymerases, as Well as Other Enzymes 281 DNA Polymerase I 281 DNA Polymerase II, III, IV, and V 282 The DNA Pol III Holoenzyme 283

11.3 Many Complex Issues Must Be Resolved during DNA Replication 284

Unwinding the DNA Helix 284 Initiation of DNA Synthesis Using an RNA Primer 285 Continuous and Discontinuous DNA Synthesis 285 Concurrent Synthesis Occurs on the Leading and Lagging Strands 286 Proofreading and Error Correction Occurs during DNA Replication 286

- 11.4 A Coherent Model Summarizes DNA Replication 287
- 11.5 Replication Is Controlled by a Variety of Genes 288

MODERN APPROACHES TO UNDERSTANDING GENE FUNCTION

Lethal Knockouts 288

11.6 Eukaryotic DNA Replication Is Similar to Replication in Bacteria, but Is More Complex 289

Initiation at Multiple Replication Origins289Multiple Eukaryotic DNA Polymerases290Replication through Chromatin291

11.7 Telomeres Solve Stability and Replication Problems at Eukaryotic Chromosome Ends 291

Telomere Structure and Chromosome Stability292Telomeres and Chromosome End Replication292Telomeres in Disease, Aging, and Cancer294

11.8 Recombination Is Essential for Genetic Exchange and DNA Repair 294 Models of Homologous Recombination 294 GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

Telomeres: The Key to a Long Life? 296 CASE STUDY At loose ends 297 Summary Points 297 Insights and Solutions 298 Problems and Discussion Questions 298 Extra-Spicy Problems 299

12 DNA Organization in Chromosomes 301

- 12.1 Viral and Bacterial Chromosomes are Relatively Simple DNA Molecules 302
- 12.2 Supercoiling Facilitates Compaction of the DNA of Viral and Bacterial Chromosomes 303
- 12.3 Specialized Chromosomes Reveal Variations in the Organization of DNA 305 Polytene Chromosomes 305 Lampbrush Chromosomes 306
- 12.4 DNA Is Organized into Chromatin in Eukaryotes 307 Chromatin Structure and Nucleosomes 307 Chromatin Remodeling 309 Heterochromatin 311
- 12.5 Chromosome Banding Differentiates Regions along the Mitotic Chromosome 311

12.6 Eukaryotic Genomes Demonstrate Complex Sequence Organization Characterized by Repetitive DNA 312

Satellite DNA 313

Centromeric DNA Sequences 314 Middle Repetitive Sequences: VNTRs and

STRs 314

Repetitive Transposed Sequences: SINEs and LINEs **315**

Middle Repetitive Multiple-Copy Genes 315

12.7 The Vast Majority of a Eukaryotic Genome Does Not Encode Functional Genes 315

EXPLORING GENOMICS

Database of Genomic Variants: Structural Variations in the Human Genome **316**

CASE STUDY Helping or hurting? 317

Summary Points 317

Insights and Solutions 317 Problems and Discussion Questions 318 Extra-Spicy Problems 319

PART THREE

GENE EXPRESSION AND ITS REGULATION

13 The Genetic Code and Transcription 321

- 13.1 The Genetic Code Uses Ribonucleotide Bases as "Letters" 322
- 13.2 Early Studies Established the Basic Operational Patterns of the Code 322 The Triplet Nature of the Code 323
- 13.3 Studies by Nirenberg, Matthaei, and Others Led to Deciphering of the Code 323
 Synthesizing Polypeptides in a Cell-Free System 323
 Homopolymer Codes 324
 The Use of Mixed Heteropolymers 324
 The Triplet Binding Assay 326
 Repeating Copolymers 326
- 13.4 The Coding Dictionary Reveals Several Interesting Patterns among the 64 Codons 328

Degeneracy and the Wobble Hypothesis 328 The Ordered Nature of the Code 329 Punctuating the Code: Initiation and Termination Codons 329

- 13.5 The Genetic Code Has Been Confirmed in Studies of Phage MS2 330
- 13.6 The Genetic Code Is Nearly Universal 330
- 13.7 Different Initiation Points Create Overlapping Genes 331
- 13.8 Transcription Synthesizes RNA on a DNA Template 331
- 13.9 RNA Polymerase Directs RNA Synthesis 332
 Promoters, Template Binding, and the σ Subunit 332
 Initiation, Elongation, and Termination of RNA
 - Synthesis in Bacteria 334
- 13.10 Transcription in Eukaryotes Differs from
Bacterial Transcription in Several Ways335
335Initiation of Transcription in Eukaryotes336

Recent Discoveries Concerning Eukaryotic RNA Polymerase Function 337 Processing Eukaryotic RNA: Caps and Tails 338

13.11 The Coding Regions of Eukaryotic Genes Are Interrupted by Intervening Sequences Called Introns 339 Why Do Introns Exist? 340 Splicing Mechanisms: Self-Splicing RNAs 340 Splicing Mechanisms: The Spliceosome 341

- Evolving Concept of the Gene 342
- 13.12 RNA Editing May Modify the Final Transcript 342
- 13.13 Transcription Has Been Visualized by Electron Microscopy 344
- CASE STUDY Treatment dilemmas 345

Summary Points 345

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

Treating Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy with Exon-Skipping Drugs 345

- Insights and Solutions 346
- Problems and Discussion Questions 347
- Extra-Spicy Problems 348

14 Translation and Proteins 350

14.1 Translation of mRNA Depends on Ribosomes and Transfer RNAs 350 Ribosomal Structure 351 tRNA Structure 352 Charging tRNA 353

- 14.2 Translation of mRNA Can Be Divided into Three Steps 354 Initiation 354 Elongation 356 Termination 357 Polyribosomes 357
- 14.3 High-Resolution Studies Have Revealed Many Details about the Functional Bacterial Ribosome 358
- 14.4 Translation Is More Complex in Eukaryotes 359
- 14.5 The Initial Insight That Proteins Are Important in Heredity Was Provided by the Study of Inborn Errors of Metabolism 360 Phenylketonuria 361

 14.6 Studies of Neurospora Led to the One-Gene:One-Enzyme Hypothesis 362
 Analysis of Neurospora Mutants by Beadle and Tatum 362
 Genes and Enzymes: Analysis of Biochemical

Pathways 362

- 14.7 Studies of Human Hemoglobin Established That One Gene Encodes One Polypeptide 364 Sickle-Cell Anemia 364
- Evolving Concept of the Gene 366
- 14.8 Variation in Protein Structure Provides the Basis of Biological Diversity 366
- 14.9 Posttranslational Modification Alters the Final Protein Product 370 Protein Folding and Misfolding 370
- 14.10 Proteins Perform Many Diverse Roles 371
- 14.11 Proteins Often Include More Than One Functional Domain 372 Exon Shuffling 372

EXPLORING GENOMICS

Translation Tools and Swiss-Prot for Studying Protein Sequences 373

CASE STUDY Crippled ribosomes 374

Summary Points 375

Insights and Solutions 375

Problems and Discussion Questions 375

Extra-Spicy Problems 377

15 Gene Mutation, DNA Repair, and Transposition 378

15.1 Gene Mutations Are Classified in Various Ways 379

Classification Based on Type of Molecular Change **379**

Classification Based on Effect on Function 380 Classification Based on Location of Mutation 380

15.2 Mutations Occur Spontaneously and Randomly 381

Spontaneous and Induced Mutations 382 Spontaneous Germ-Line Mutation Rates in Humans 382

Spontaneous Somatic Mutation Rates in Humans 383

The Fluctuation Test: Are Mutations Random or Adaptive? 383

15.3 Spontaneous Mutations Arise from Replication Errors and Base Modifications 384

DNA Replication Errors and Slippage 384 Tautomeric Shifts 384 Depurination and Deamination 385 Oxidative Damage 385 Transposable Elements 386

15.4 Induced Mutations Arise from DNA Damage Caused by Chemicals and Radiation 386

Base Analogs 387 Alkylating, Intercalating, and Adduct-Forming Agents 387 Ultraviolet Light 388 Ionizing Radiation 388

15.5 Single-Gene Mutations Cause a Wide Range of Human Diseases 390

Single-Gene Mutations and β-Thalassemia 390 Mutations Caused by Expandable DNA Repeats 391

15.6 Organisms Use DNA Repair Systems to Counteract Mutations 392

Proofreading and Mismatch Repair 392
Postreplication Repair and the SOS Repair System 393
Photoreactivation Repair: Reversal of UV Damage 393
Base and Nucleotide Excision Repair 393
Nucleotide Excision Repair and Xeroderma Pigmentosum in Humans 395
Double-Strand Break Repair in Eukaryotes 396

15.7 The Ames Test Is Used to Assess the Mutagenicity of Compounds 397

15.8 Transposable Elements Move within the Genome and May Create Mutations 398

DNATransposons DNATransposons—the *Ac–Ds* System in Maize Retrotransposons Retrotransposons—the *Copia –White-Apricot* System in *Drosophila* Transposable Elements in Humans

MODERN APPROACHES TO UNDERSTANDING GENE FUNCTION

Transposon-Mediated Mutations Reveal Genes Involved in Colorectal Cancer 404 Transposable Elements, Mutations, and Evolution 405

EXPLORING GENOMICS

Sequence Alignment to Identify a Mutation 406

CASE STUDY An Unexpected Diagnosis 407

Summary Points 407

Insights and Solutions 407

Problems and Discussion Questions 408

Extra-Spicy Problems 409

16 Regulation of Gene Expression in Bacteria 411

- 16.1 Bacteria Regulate Gene Expression in Response to Environmental Conditions 412
- 16.2 Lactose Metabolism in *E. coli* Is Regulated by an Inducible System 412 Structural Genes 412 The Discovery of Regulatory Mutations 413 The Operon Model: Negative Control 414 Genetic Proof of the Operon Model 416 Isolation of the Repressor 416
- 16.3 The Catabolite-Activating Protein (CAP) Exerts Positive Control over the *lac* Operon 417
- 16.4 Crystal Structure Analysis of Repressor Complexes Has Confirmed the Operon Model 419
- 16.5 The Tryptophan (trp) Operon in E. coli Is a
Repressible Gene System 421
Evidence for the trp Operon 421
- Evolving Concept of the Gene 421
- 16.6 RNA Plays Diverse Roles in Regulating Gene Expression in Bacteria 422
 - Attenuation 423 Riboswitches 424 Small Noncoding RNAs Play Regulatory Roles in

CASE STUDY MRSA in the National Football League (NFL) **426**

Summary Points 426

Bacteria 425

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

Ouorum Sensing: Social Networking and Gene Regulation in Bacteria 426

Insights and Solutions 427

Problems and Discussion Questions 428

Extra-Spicy Problems 429

17 Transcriptional Regulation in Eukaryotes 431

17.1 Organization of the Eukaryotic Cell Facilitates Gene Regulation at Several Levels 432

17.2 Eukaryotic Gene Expression Is Influenced by Chromatin Modifications 433

Chromosome Territories and Transcription Factories **433** Open and Closed Chromatin **434** Histone Modifications and Chromatin Remodeling 434 DNA Methylation 435

17.3 Eukaryotic Transcription Initiation Requires Specific Cis-Acting Sites 436 Promoters and Promoter Elements 436

Enhancers, Insulators, and Silencers 438

17.4 Eukaryotic Transcription Initiation Is Regulated by Transcription Factors That Bind to *Cis*-Acting Sites 438

The Human Metallothionein 2A Gene: Multiple *Cis*-Acting Elements and Transcription Factors **439** Functional Domains of Eukaryotic Transcription Factors **440**

17.5 Activators and Repressors Interact with General Transcription Factors and Affect Chromatin Structure 440

> Formation of the RNA Polymerase II Transcription Initiation Complex 440

Mechanisms of Transcription Activation and Repression 441

- 17.6 Gene Regulation in a Model Organism: Transcription of the *GAL* Genes of Yeast 442
- 17.7 ENCODE Data Are Transforming Our Concepts of Eukaryotic Gene Regulation 444 Enhancer and Promoter Elements 444 Transcripts and Noncoding RNA 445
 Evolving Concept of a Gene 445

Many Disease-Associated Genome Variations Affect Regulatory Regions **445**

EXPLORING GENOMICS

Tissue-Specific Gene Expression 446 CASE STUDY Risk assessment 447 Summary Points 447 Insights and Solutions 448 Problems and Discussion Questions 449 Extra-Spicy Problems 449

18 Posttranscriptional Regulation in Eukaryotes 451

18.1 Regulation of Alternative Splicing Determines Which RNA Spliceforms of a Gene Are Translated 452

Types of Alternative Splicing 452 Alternative Splicing and the Proteome 454 Regulation of Alternative Splicing 454 Sex Determination in *Drosophila*: A Model for Regulation of Alternative Splicing 455 Alternative Splicing and Human Diseases 456

18.2 Gene Expression Is Regulated by mRNA Stability and Degradation 457

Mechanisms of mRNA Decay 457 Regulation of mRNA Stability and Degradation 458 mRNA Surveillance and Nonsense-Mediated Decay 458

18.3 Noncoding RNAs Play Diverse Roles in Posttranscriptional Regulation 458

The Discovery of RNA Interference and microRNAs 459 MODERN APPROACHES TO UNDERSTANDING GENE FUNCTION

MicroRNAs Regulate Ovulation in Female Mice **459** Mechanisms of RNA Interference **460**

RNA Interference in Research, Biotechnology, and Medicine 462

Long Noncoding RNAs and Posttranscriptional Regulation **462**

Circular RNAs 463

18.4 mRNA Localization and Translation Initiation Are Highly Regulated 463

Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation 464 mRNA Localization and Localized Translational Control 464

18.5 Posttranslational Modifications Regulate Protein Activity 465

Regulation of Proteins by Phosphorylation 465 Ubiquitin-Mediated Protein Degradation 466

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

Is DNA Enough? 467

CASE STUDY A mysterious muscular dystrophy 468

Summary Points 468

Insights and Solutions 468

Problems and Discussion Questions 469

Extra-Spicy Problems 470

19 Epigenetic Regulation of Gene Expression 471

19.1 Molecular Alterations to the Genome Create an Epigenome 472

DNA Methylation and the Methylome 472 Histone Modification and Chromatin Remodeling 474

Short and Long Noncoding RNAs 477

19.2 Epigenetics and Monoallelic Gene Expression 478

Parent-of-Origin Monoallelic Expression: Imprinting 478

Random Monoallelic Expression: Inactivation of the X Chromosome **480**

Random Monoallelic Expression of Autosomal Genes 480

Assisted Reproductive Technologies (ART) and Imprinting Defects 481

19.3 Epigenetics and Cancer 482

DNA Methylation and Cancer 482 Chromatin Remodeling and Histone Modification in Cancer 483 Epigenetic Cancer Therapy 484

19.4 Epigenetic Traits Are Heritable 484

Environmental Induction of Epigenetic Change 484 Stress-Induced Behavior Is Heritable 486

19.5 Epigenome Projects and Databases 486

CASE STUDY Food for Thought 488

Summary Points 488

EXPLORING GENOMICS

The International Human Epigenome Consortium (IHEC) **489**

Insights and Solutions 490

Problems and Discussion Questions 490 Extra-Spicy Problems 491

PART FOUR GENETIC TECHNOLOGY AND GENOMICS

20 Recombinant DNA Technology 492

20.1 Recombinant DNA Technology Began with Two Key Tools: Restriction Enzymes and Cloning Vectors 493

Restriction Enzymes Cut DNA at Specific Recognition Sequences 493

DNA Vectors Accept and Replicate DNA Molecules to Be Cloned **494**

Bacterial Plasmid Vectors 495

Other Types of Cloning Vectors 497

Host Cells for Cloning Vectors 498

20.2 DNA Libraries Are Collections of Cloned Sequences 499

Genomic Libraries 499

Complementary DNA (cDNA) Libraries 499 Specific Genes Can Be Recovered from a Library by Screening 500

20.3 The Polymerase Chain Reaction Is a Powerful Technique for Copying DNA 500 PCR Limitations 502 PCR Applications 502

20.4 Molecular Techniques for Analyzing DNA and RNA 504

Restriction Mapping504Nucleic Acid Blotting504In Situ Hybridization506

20.5 DNA Sequencing Is the Ultimate Way to Characterize DNA at the Molecular Level 507

Sequencing Technologies Have Progressed Rapidly 509

Next-Generation Sequencing Technology509Third-Generation Sequencing Technology510DNA Sequencing and Genomics511

20.6 Creating Knockout and Transgenic Organisms for Studying Gene Function 511

Gene Targeting and Knockout Animal Models 512

Making a Transgenic Animal: The Basics 515 Gene Editing with CRISPR-Cas 516

EXPLORING GENOMICS

Manipulating Recombinant DNA: Restriction Mapping and Designing PCR Primers 517

CASE STUDY Ethical issues and genetic

technology 518

Summary Points 518

Insights and Solutions 519

Problems and Discussion Questions 519 Extra-Spicy Problems 521

21 Genomic Analysis 523

21.1 Genomic Analysis Before Modern Sequencing Methods Involved Classical Genetics Approaches and Cloning to Map One or a Few Genes at a Time 524

21.2 Whole-Genome Sequencing Is Widely Used for Sequencing and Assembling Entire Genomes 524

High-Throughput Sequencing and Its Impact on Genomics 525

The Clone-by-Clone Approach 526 Draft Sequences and Reference Genomes 527

21.3 DNA Sequence Analysis Relies on Bioinformatics Applications and Genome Databases 527

Annotation to Identify Gene Sequences 528 Hallmark Characteristics of a Gene Sequence Can Be Recognized during Annotation 529

21.4 Functional Genomics Establishes Gene Function and Identifies Regulatory Elements in a Genome 531 Predicting Gene and Protein Functions by Sequence Analysis 531

Predicting Function from Structural Analysis of Protein Domains and Motifs **532**

Investigators Are Using Genomics Techniques Such as Chromatin Immunoprecipitation to Investigate Aspects of Genome Function and Regulation 532

21.5 The Human Genome Project Revealed Many Important Aspects of Genome Organization in Humans 533

Origins of the Project 533 Major Features of the Human Genome 534 Individual Variations in the Human Genome 535 Accessing the Human Genome Project on the Internet 535

21.6 The "Omics" Revolution Has Created a New Era of Biological Research 537

After the HGP, What's Next? 537 Personal Genome Projects 537 Somatic Genome Mosaicism and the Emerging Pangenome 538 Whole-Exome Sequencing 539 Encyclopedia of DNA Elements (ENCODE) Project 540 Nutrigenomics Considers Genetics and Diet 541 No Genome Left Behind and the Genome 10K Plan 541 Stone-Age Genomics 541

21.7 Comparative Genomics Analyzes and Compares Genomes from Different Organisms 542

Bacterial and Eukaryotic Genomes Display Common Structural and Functional Features and Important Differences 542

Comparative Genomics Provides Novel Information about the Genomes of Model Organisms and the Human Genome 544

The Sea Urchin Genome 544

The Dog Genome 544

The Chimpanzee Genome 545

The Rhesus Monkey Genome 546

The Neanderthal Genome and Modern Humans 546

21.8 Metagenomics Applies Genomics Techniques to Environmental Samples 547 The Human Microbiome Project 547

21.9 Transcriptome Analysis Reveals Profiles of Expressed Genes in Cells and Tissues 548 DNA Microarray Analysis 549 RNA Sequencing Technology Allows for *In Situ* Analysis of Gene Expression 550

21.10 Proteomics Identifies and Analyzes the Protein Composition of Cells 551

Reconciling the Number of Genes and the Number of Proteins Expressed by a Cell or Tissue 551 Mass Spectrometry for Protein Identification 553

EXPLORING GENOMICS

Contigs, Shotgun Sequencing, and Comparative Genomics 555

CASE STUDY Your microbiome may be a risk factor for disease 556

Summary Points 556

Insights and Solutions 556

Problems and Discussion Questions 557 Extra-Spicy Problems 558

22 Applications of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology 559

22.1 Genetically Engineered Organisms Synthesize a Variety of Valuable Biopharmaceutical Products 560

Recombinant Protein Production in Bacteria 560 Transgenic Animal Hosts and Biopharmaceutical Products 562

Recombinant DNA Approaches for Vaccine Production 562

Vaccine Proteins Can Be Produced by Plants 563 DNA-Based Vaccines 563

- 22.2 Genetic Engineering of Plants Has Revolutionized Agriculture 564
- 22.3 Genetically Modified Animals Serve Important Roles in Biotechnology 564 Examples of Transgenic Animals 565
- 22.4 Genetic Testing, Including Genomic Analysis, Is Transforming Medical Diagnosis 567

Genetic Testing for Prognostic or Diagnostic Purposes 567

Prenatal Genetic Testing 567 Genetic Testing Using Allele-Specific Oligonucleotides 568

Genetic Testing Using Microarrays 570

Applications of Gene-Expression Microarrays and Next–Generation Sequencing for Pathogen Identification 574

Screening the Genome for Genes or Mutations You Want 575

- 22.5 Genetic Analysis of Individual Genomes 575
- 22.6 Genetic Analysis from Single Cells 576
- 22.7 Genome-Wide Association Studies Identify Genome Variations That Contribute to Disease 577
- 22.8 Synthetic Genomes and the Emergence of Synthetic Biology 580

The Minimal Genome: How Many Essential Genes Are Required by a Living Cell? 580

- Design and Transplantation of a Synthetic Genome Defines the Minimal Bacterial Genome 580
- The Essential Genes of Human Cells and the Quest to Create a Synthetic Human Genome 582

Synthetic Biology for Bioengineering Applications 583

22.9 Genetic Engineering, Genomics, and Biotechnology Raise Ethical, Social, and Legal Questions 584

Genetic Testing and Ethical Dilemmas 584

Direct-to-Consumer Genetic Testing and Regulating the Genetic Test Providers 585

DNA and Gene Patents 586

Whole-Genome Sequence Analysis Presents Many Questions of Ethics 587

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

Privacy and Anonymity in the Era of Genomic Big Data 587

Preconception Testing, Destiny Predictions, and Baby-Predicting Patents 588

Patents and Synthetic Biology 588

CASE STUDY "Driving" to Extinction 589

Summary Points 589

Insights and Solutions 589

Problems and Discussion Questions 590

Extra-Spicy Problems 591

PART FIVE

GENETIC ANALYSIS OF ORGANISMS AND POPULATIONS



- 23.1 Differentiated States Develop from Coordinated Programs of Gene Expression 593 Genetic and Epigenetic Regulation of Development 594
- 23.2 Evolutionary Conservation of Developmental Mechanisms Can Be Studied Using Model Organisms 595 Analysis of Developmental Mechanisms 595

23.3 Genetic Analysis of Embryonic Development in *Drosophila* Reveals How the Body Axis of Animals Is Specified 596

Overview of *Drosophila* Development 596 Genetic Analysis of Embryogenesis 596

23.4 Segment Formation and Body Plans in Drosophila and Mammals 599 Gap Genes 599 Pair-Rule Genes 599 Segment Polarity Genes 599 Segmentation Genes in Mice and Humans 600

23.5 Homeotic Selector Genes Specify Body Parts of the Adult 601 Hox Genes in Drosophila 601

Hox Genes and Human Genetic Disorders 603

23.6 Plants Have Evolved Developmental Regulatory Systems That Parallel Those of Animals 604 Homeotic Genes in Arabidopsis 604 Divergence in Homeotic Genes 605

23.7 *C. elegans* Serves as a Model for Cell–Cell Interactions in Development 606

Signaling Pathways in Development 606 The Notch Signaling Pathway 606

MODERN APPROACHES TO UNDERSTANDING GENE FUNCTION

Downregulating a Single Gene Reveals Secrets to
Head Regeneration in Planaria 607Overview of C. elegans Development608Genetic Analysis of Vulva Formation609

23.8 Binary Switch Genes and Regulatory Networks Program Genomic Expression 610 The Control of Eye Formation 610

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY Stem Cell Wars 613

CASE STUDY One foot or another 614

Summary Points 614

Insights and Solutions 614

Problems and Discussion Questions 615 Extra-Spicy Problems 616

24 Cancer Genetics 617

24.1 Cancer Is a Genetic Disease at the Level of Somatic Cells 618

What Is Cancer? 618
The Clonal Origin of Cancer Cells 618
Driver Mutations and Passenger Mutations 619
The Cancer Stem Cell Hypothesis 619
Cancer as a Multistep Process, Requiring Multiple Mutations and Clonal Expansions 619

24.2 Cancer Cells Contain Genetic Defects Affecting Genomic Stability, DNA Repair, and Chromatin Modifications 620

Genomic Instability and Defective DNA Repair 621 Chromatin Modifications and Cancer Epigenetics 622

24.3 Cancer Cells Contain Genetic Defects Affecting Cell-Cycle Regulation 622 The Cell Cycle and Signal Transduction 622

Cell-Cycle Control and Checkpoints 623 Control of Apoptosis 624 Cancer Therapies and Cancer Cell Biology 625

24.4 Proto-oncogenes and Tumor-Suppressor Genes Are Altered in Cancer Cells 625 The *ras* Proto-oncogenes 626 The *TP53* Tumor-Suppressor Gene 627

- 24.5 Cancer Cells Metastasize and Invade Other Tissues 628
- 24.6 Predisposition to Some Cancers Can Be Inherited 628
- 24.7 Viruses Contribute to Cancer in Both Humans and Animals 629

24.8 Environmental Agents Contribute to Human Cancers 631 Natural Environmental Agents 631

Human-Made Chemicals and Pollutants 631 Tobacco Smoke and Cancer 632

CASE STUDY Cancer-killing bacteria 632

Summary Points 633

EXPLORING GENOMICS

The Cancer Genome Anatomy Project (CGAP) 633

Insights and Solutions 634

Problems and Discussion Questions 634 Extra-Spicy Problems 635



25.1 Not All Polygenic Traits Show Continuous Variation 638

25.2 Quantitative Traits Can Be Explained in Mendelian Terms 638

The Multiple-Gene Hypothesis for Quantitative Inheritance 638

Additive Alleles: The Basis of Continuous Variation 639

Calculating the Number of Polygenes 640

25.3 The Study of Polygenic Traits Relies on Statistical Analysis 641 The Mean 641

Variance 641

Standard Deviation 642 Standard Error of the Mean 642 Covariance and Correlation Coefficient 642 Analysis of a Quantitative Character 642

25.4 Heritability Values Estimate the Genetic Contribution to Phenotypic Variability 643

Broad-Sense Heritability 645 Narrow-Sense Heritability 645 Artificial Selection 645 Limitations of Heritability Studies 647

25.5 Twin Studies Allow an Estimation of Heritability in Humans 647

Large-Scale Analysis of Twin Studies 648 Twin Studies Have Several Limitations 648

25.6 Quantitative Trait Loci Are Useful in Studying Multifactorial Phenotypes 649

Expression QTLs Regulate Gene Expression 651

Expression QTLs and Genetic Disorders 652

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

Rice, Genes, and the Second Green Revolution 653

CASE STUDY A Chance Discovery 654

Summary Points 654

Insights and Solutions 655

Problems and Discussion Questions 656

Extra-Spicy Problems 657

26 Population and Evolutionary Genetics 659

26.1 Genetic Variation Is Present in Most Populations and Species 660

Detecting Genetic Variation 660 Recombinant DNA Technology and Genetic Variation 660 Genetic Variation in Genomes 660 Explaining the High Level of Genetic Variation in Populations 661

26.2 The Hardy–Weinberg Law Describes Allele Frequencies and Genotype Frequencies in Population Gene Pools 661

Calculating Genotype Frequencies 662 Calculating Allele Frequencies 662 The Hardy–Weinberg Law and Its Assumptions 662

26.3 The Hardy–Weinberg Law Can Be Applied to Human Populations 663

Testing for Hardy–Weinberg Equilibrium in a Population 664

Calculating Frequencies for Multiple Alleles in Populations 666

Calculating Allele Frequencies for X-linked Traits 666

Calculating Heterozygote Frequency 667

26.4 Natural Selection Is a Major Force Driving Allele Frequency Change 668

Detecting Natural Selection in Populations 668 Fitness and Selection 668 There Are Several Types of Selection 669

- 26.5 Mutation Creates New Alleles in a Gene Pool 672
- 26.6 Migration and Gene Flow Can Alter Allele Frequencies 672
- 26.7 Genetic Drift Causes Random Changes in Allele Frequency in Small Populations 673 Founder Effects in Human Populations 674
- 26.8 Nonrandom Mating Changes Genotype Frequency but Not Allele Frequency 674 Inbreeding 674
- 26.9 Speciation Can Occur through Reproductive Isolation 676

Changes Leading to Speciation 676 The Rate of Macroevolution and Speciation 677

26.10 Phylogeny Can Be Used to Analyze Evolutionary History 678

Constructing Phylogenetic Trees from DNA Sequences 678

Reconstructing Vertebrate Evolution by Phylogenetic Analysis 679

Molecular Clocks Measure the Rate of Evolutionary Change 679 The Complex Origins of the Human Genome 680

GENETICS, ETHICS, AND SOCIETY

Tracking Our Genetic Footprints out of Africa 682

CASE STUDY A Tale of Two Olivias 682

Summary Points 683

Insights and Solutions 683

Problems and Discussion Questions 684

Extra-Spicy Problems 685

SPECIAL TOPICS IN MODERN GENETICS 1

CRISPR-Cas and Genome Editing 687

CRISPR-Cas Is an Adaptive Immune System in Prokaryotes 687

Discovery of CRISPR 688

The CRISPR-Cas Mechanism for RNA-Guided Destruction of Invading DNA 688

Type II CRISPR-Cas Systems 689

CRISPR-Cas has been Adapted as a Powerful Tool for Genome Editing 690

CRISPR-Cas9 In Vitro 690 CRISPR-Cas9 Genome Editing of Mammalian Cells 690

CRISPR-Cas Infidelity 692

CRISPR-Cas Technology Has Diverse Applications 692

CRISPR-Cas as a Tool for Basic Genetic Research 692

BOX 1 The CRISPR-Cas9 Patent Battle 693 CRISPR-Cas in Biotechnology 694

Clinical Use of CRISPR-Cas to Treat or Cure Disease 695

BOX 2 Ethical Concerns of Human Genome Editing 696

SPECIAL TOPICS IN MODERN GENETICS 2

DNA Forensics 699

DNA Profiling Methods 699

VNTR-Based DNA Fingerprinting 699
BOX 1 The Pitchfork Case: The First Criminal Conviction Using DNA Profiling 700
Autosomal STR DNA Profiling 701
Y-Chromosome STR Profiling 702
Mitochondrial DNA Profiling 702
Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism Profiling 704
DNA Phenotyping 704
BOX 2 Putting a Face to DNA: The Bouzigard Case 705

Interpreting DNA Profiles 705 The Uniqueness of DNA Profiles 706 DNA Profile Databases 707

Technical and Ethical Issues Surrounding DNA Profiling 707

BOX 3 The Kennedy Brewer Case: Two Bite-Mark Errors and One Hit **707**

BOX 4 A Case of Transference: The Lukis Anderson Story **708**

SPECIAL TOPICS IN MODERN GENETICS 3

Genomics and Precision Medicine 710

Pharmacogenomics 710

Optimizing Drug Responses 710

Developing Targeted Drugs 711

BOX 1 Preemptive Pharmacogenomic Screening: The PGEN4Kids Program **712**

Precision Oncology 713

Targeted Cancer Immunotherapies 713

BOX 2 Precision Cancer Diagnostics and Treatments: The Lukas Wartman Story **714**

BOX 3 Cell Types in the Innate and Adaptive Immune Systems **715**

BOX 4 Steps in CytotoxicT-cell Recognition, Activation, and Destruction of Cancer Cells **716**

Precision Medicine and Disease Diagnostics 718

Technical, Social, and Ethical Challenges 718

BOX 5 Beyond Genomics: Personal Omics
 Profiling 719

SPECIAL TOPICS IN MODERN GENETICS 4 Genetically Modified Foods 721

What Are GM Foods? 721
Herbicide-Resistant GM Crops 722
BOX 1 The Tale of GM Salmon – Downstream Effects? 723
Insect-Resistant GM Crops 723
GM Crops for Direct Consumption 724

Methods Used to Create GM Plants 725

Selectable Markers 725 Roundup-Ready[®] Soybeans 726 Golden Rice 2 727 Gene Editing and GM Foods 727

GM Foods Controversies 728

BOX 2 The New CRISPR Mushroom 729
 Health and Safety 729
 Environmental Effects 730

The Future of GM Foods 731

SPECIAL TOPICS IN MODERN GENETICS 5

GeneTherapy 733

What Genetic Conditions Are Candidates for Treatment by Gene Therapy? 733

How Are Therapeutic Genes Delivered? 734

Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy 734 **BOX 1** Clinical Trials.gov 735 Nonviral Delivery Methods 736 Stem Cells for Delivering Therapeutic Genes 736

The First Successful Gene Therapy Trial 737

Gene Therapy Setbacks 738 Problems with Gene Therapy Vectors 738

Recent Successful Trials by Conventional Gene Therapy Approaches 739

Treating Retinal Blindness **739** Successful Treatment of Hemophilia B **739**

HIV as a Vector Shows Promise in Recent Trials 740 BOX 2 Glybera: The First Commercial Gene Therapy to be Approved in the West Lasted Only

5 Years 740 Gene Editing Approaches to Gene

Therapy 741

DNA-Editing Nucleases 741

CRISPR-Cas Method Revolutionizes Gene Editing Applications and Renews Optimism in GeneTherapy 742

RNA-Based Therapeutics 744

Future Challenges and Ethical Issues 745

Ethical Concerns Surrounding Gene Therapy 746
BOX 3 Gene Doping for Athletic
Performance? 746

SPECIAL TOPICS IN MODERN GENETICS 6

Advances in Neurogenetics: The Study of Huntington Disease 748

BOX 1 George Huntington and His Namesake Disease **749**

The Search for the Huntington Gene 749

Finding Linkage between Huntington Disease and an RFLP Marker 749

BOX 2 Nancy Wexler and the VenezuelanPedigree 750

Assigning the HD Gene to Chromosome 4 **750** The Identification and Cloning of the Huntington Gene **751** **BOX 3** Genetic Testing for Huntington Disease **752**

The HTT Gene and Its Protein Product 752

Molecular and Cellular Alterations in Huntington Disease 753

Transcriptional Disruption Impaired Protein Folding and Degradation Synaptic Dysfunction Impaired Mitochondrial Function

Transgenic Animal Models of Huntington Disease 755

Using Transgenic Mice to Study Huntington Disease **755**

Transgenic Sheep as an Animal Model of Huntington Disease **756**

Cellular and Molecular Approaches to Therapy 756

Stem Cells for Transplantation Identifying Potential Drugs for Therapy Gene Silencing to Reduce mHTT Levels Gene Editing in Huntington Disease

The Relationship between HD and Other Neurodegenerative Disorders 759

BOX 4 Huntington Disease and Behavior **759**

Appendix A Selected Readings 763

Appendix B Answers to Selected Problems 777

Glossary 821

Credits 841

Index 845

Preface

It is essential that textbook authors step back and look with fresh eyes as each edition of their work is planned. In doing so, two main questions must be posed: (1) How has the body of information in their field—in this case, Genetics grown and shifted since the last edition? (2) Which pedagogic innovations that are currently incorporated into the text should be maintained, modified, or deleted? The preparation of the 12th edition of *Concepts of Genetics*, a text well into its fourth decade of providing support for students studying in this field, has occasioned still another fresh look. And what we focused on in this new edition, in addition to the normal updating that is inevitably required, were three things:

1. The importance of continuing to provide comprehensive coverage of important, emerging topics.

In this regard, we continue to include a unique approach in genetics textbooks that offers readers a set of abbreviated, highly focused chapters that we label **Special Topics in Modern Genetics**. In this edition, these provide unique, cohesive coverage of six important topics: *CRISPR-Cas and Genomic Editing, DNA Forensics, Genomics and Precision Medicine, Genetically Modified Foods, Gene Therapy,* and *Advances in Neurogenetics: The Study of Huntington Disease.* The initial and final chapters in this series are both new to this edition.

2. The recognition of the vastly increased knowledge resulting from the study of gene regulation in eukaryotes.

To that end, the single chapter on this topic in previous editions has been expanded to three chapters: "Transcriptional Regulation in Eukaryotes" (Chapter 17), "Posttranscriptional Regulation in Eukaryotes" (Chapter 18), and "Epigenetic Regulation of Gene Expression" (Chapter 19). This extended coverage reflects many recent discoveries that reveal that RNA in many forms other than those that are essential to the process of transcription and translation (mRNA, tRNA, and rRNA) play critical roles in the regulation of eukaryotic gene activity. As well, it is now clear based on molecular studies related to epigenetics that this topic is best taught as an integral part of eukaryotic gene regulation. This new material provides the student exposure to modern coverage of a significant research topic. 3. The importance of providing an increased emphasis on ethical considerations that genetics is bringing into everyday life.

Regarding this point, we have converted the essay feature *Genetics, Technology, and Society* to one with added emphasis on ethics and renamed it *Genetics, Ethics, and Society*. Approximately half the chapters have new or revised essays. In addition, the feature called *Case Study*, which appears near the end of all chapters, has been recast with an increased focus on ethics. Both of these features increase the opportunities for active and cooperative learning.

Goals

In the 12th edition of *Concepts of Genetics*, as in all past editions, we have five major overarching goals. Specifically, we have sought to:

- Emphasize the basic concepts of genetics.
- Write clearly and directly to students, providing understandable explanations of complex, analytical topics.
- Maintain our strong emphasis on and provide multiple approaches to problem solving.
- Propagate the rich history of genetics, which so beautifully illustrates how information is acquired during scientific investigation.
- Create inviting, engaging, and pedagogically useful fullcolor figures enhanced by equally helpful photographs to support concept development.

These goals collectively serve as the cornerstone of *Concepts of Genetics*. This pedagogic foundation allows the book to be used in courses with many different approaches and lecture formats.

Writing a textbook that achieves these goals and having the opportunity to continually improve on each new edition has been a labor of love for all of us. The creation of each of the twelve editions is a reflection not only of our passion for teaching genetics, but also of the constructive feedback and encouragement provided by adopters, reviewers, and our students over the past four decades.

New to This Edition

New to this edition are four chapters. Two are Special Topics in Modern Genetics entries entitled "CRISPR-Cas and Genome Editing" and "Advances in Neurogenetics: The Study of Huntington Disease." Both cover cutting-edge information and represent very recent breakthroughs in genetics. CRISPR, a genome-editing tool, is a straightforward technique that allows specific, highly accurate modification of DNA sequences within genes and is thus a powerful tool in the world of genetic research and gene therapy. In addition to this chapter, we call your attention to the introduction to Chapter 1 for an introduction to CRISPR and to also note that we have chosen this gene-editing system as the subject matter illustrated on the cover. Special Topics Chapter 6 illustrates the many of advances that have been made in the study of human neurogenetics. Huntington disease, a monogenic human disorder, has been subjected to analysis for over 40 years using every major approach and technique developed to study molecular genetics, and as such, exemplifies the growing body of information that has accrued regarding its causes, symptoms, and future treatment.

Additional new chapters arise from a major reorganization and expansion of our coverage of regulation of gene expression in eukaryotes, where we have split our previous coverage into three parts: transcriptional regulation (Chapter 17), posttranscriptional regulation (Chapter 18), and epigenetic regulation (Chapter 19). Chapter 18 includes much of the content previously contained in the Special Topics chapter *Emerging Roles of RNA* in the previous edition. Chapter 19, focused on epigenetics, is an expansion of the content previously contained in the *Epigenetics* Special Topics chapter from the previous edition.

Collectively, the addition of these four new chapters provides students and instructors with a much clearer, upto-date presentation to these important aspects of genetics.

Continuing Pedagogic Features

We continue to include features that are distinct from, and go beyond, the text coverage, which encourage active and cooperative learning between students and the instructor.

Modern Approaches to Understanding Gene Function This feature highlights how advances in genetic technology have led to our modern understanding of gene function. Appearing in many chapters, this feature prompts students to apply their analytical thinking skills, linking the experimental technology to the findings that enhance our understanding of gene function.

- Genetics, Ethics, and Society This feature provides a synopsis of an ethical issue related to a current finding in genetics that impacts directly on society today. It includes a section called *Your Turn*, which directs students to related resources of short readings and Web sites to support deeper investigation and discussion of the main topic of each essay.
- **Case Study** This feature, at the end of each chapter, introduces a short vignette of an everyday genetics-related situation, followed by several discussion questions. Use of the Case Study should prompt students to relate their newly acquired information in genetics to ethical issues that they may encounter away from the course.
- Evolving Concept of the Gene This short feature, integrated in appropriate chapters, highlights how scientists' understanding of the gene has changed over time. Since we cannot see genes, we must infer just what this unit of heredity is, based on experimental findings. By highlighting how scientists' conceptualization of the gene has advanced over time, we aim to help students appreciate the process of discovery that has led to an ever more sophisticated understanding of hereditary information.
- How Do We Know Question Found as the initial question in the *Problems and Discussion Questions* at the end of each chapter, this feature emphasizes the pedagogic value of studying how information is acquired in science. Students are asked to review numerous findings discussed in the chapter and to summarize the process of discovery that was involved.
- Concept Question This feature, found as the second question in the *Problems and Discussion Questions* at the end of each chapter, asks the student to review and comment on common aspects of the Chapter Concepts, listed at the beginning of each chapter. This feature places added emphasis on our pedagogic approach of conceptual learning.
- Mastering Genetics This robust online homework and assessment program guides students through complex topics in genetics, using in-depth tutorials that coach students to correct answers with hints and feedback specific to their misconceptions. New content for the 12th edition of *Concepts of Genetics* includes Dynamic Study Modules and interactive flash cards that help students master basic content so they can be more prepared for class and for solving genetics problems.